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Dear Mr. Chairman and Members:

The Office of the Auditor General presents its report concerning the
need for the California Maritime Academy to improve management control
in its interactions with the California Maritime Academy Foundation.
Further, the foundation should be subject to the same fiscal controls
as the academy to ensure that state and federal assets are protected in
interactions between the academy and the foundation.

Respectfully submitted,

THOMAS W. HAYES
Auditor General
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SUMMARY

RESULTS IN BRIEF

The California Maritime Academy (academy) has
not exercised sufficient management control to
protect state and federal assets. The
following conditions resulted from this lack of
management control:

- The academy allowed the California Maritime
Academy Foundation (foundation) to charge 255
passengers for a cruise to Expo '86 in Canada
on the Golden Bear, which is a federal
training ship. Academy officials may be
subject to federal and state «civil or
criminal penalties for taking unauthorized
passengers on the cruise. In addition, the
foundation retained profits of $25,600 from
the fees it charged the passengers;

- The academy did not solicit competitive bids
when it contracted with the foundation to
operate the campus store and canteen. Also,
the academy did not submit the contract to
the Department of General Services for
approval and did not charge the foundation an
estimated $13,500 in annual costs for the use
of academy facilities and equipment.
Furthermore, the contract does not follow
state requirements in terms of content and
format;

- The academy did not collect $6,300 in back
rent owed by the former operator of the
campus store and canteen;

- The academy did not solicit competitive bids
when it contracted with the foundation for
computer equipment. Also, the academy did
not adequately monitor its computer contracts
with the foundation. As a vresult of these
conditions, the academy has paid $208,000 for
a computer system that the academy believed
it was purchasing although the computer
system still belongs to the foundation;

- Contracts and agreements for academy projects
that totaled $122,100 were not signed by an
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authorized academy official and were not
reviewed or approved by the Department of
General Services as required; and

- $101,200 of academy money from improperly
authorized contracts and agreements was
deposited into the foundation checking
account, which 1is outside of state fiscal
control. Because the money was not deposited
into the State Treasury, the State 1lost
approximately $1,300 in interest revenue.

BACKGROUND

The academy, which has approximately 400
students, is a four-year residential college
that trains men and women for careers in the
maritime industry. The academy is governed by
an independent seven-member board of governors
appointed by the Governor of California. In
fiscal year 1987-88, the State budgeted
$6.5 million to support the academy.

The foundation is a private, nonprofit
corporation that is not subject to state fiscal
controls. It was formed in 1972 by alumni of
the academy and interested businessmen from the
maritime industry. The  purpose of the
foundation, which 1is governed by a board of
trustess, 1is to provide assistance to the
academy. The deputy president of the academy
is also the president of the foundation. The
foundation office is housed in the academy's
administration building.

PRINCIPAL FINDINGS

The California Maritime Academy
Allowed Inappropriate Use of

Federal Property by the

California Maritime Academy Foundation

The academy allowed the foundation to take 255
fee-paying passengers on a cruise to Expo '86
in Canada on the Golden Bear, which is a
federal training ship. The president of the
academy and his deputy, who is also commanding
officer of the training ship, failed to inform
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the federal government or the academy's board
of governors of their decision to take
fee-paying passengers on the cruise. As a
result, state officials may be subject to
federal and state civil or criminal penalties
for carrying unauthorized passengers on the
ship. In addition, the foundation retained
profits of $25,600 from the fees that it
charged to the 255 passengers. Currently, the
United States Coast Guard is conducting an
investigation to determine if these actions are
a violation of maritime law.

The California Maritime Academy
Improperly Managed Contracts

The president of the academy contracted with
his deputy, who was representing the foundation
as its president, for the foundation to run the
campus store and canteen. The academy did not
solicit competitive bids for the contract, did
not submit the contract to the Department of
General Services for approval, and did not
charge the foundation an estimated $13,500 in
annual costs for the use of academy facilities.
Further, the contract does not follow state
requirements in terms of content and format.
In addition, the academy did not collect $6,300
in back rent owed by the former operator of the
campus store and canteen.

Further, when it contracted with the foundation
for computer services, the academy did not
follow state contracting procedures and
submitted inaccurate and incomplete information
to the Department of General Services. As a
result, the academy paid $208,000 for a
computer system that it believed it was
purchasing although the system still belongs to
the foundation. The deputy president of the
academy estimates that it would cost the
academy an additional $119,000 to purchase the
system. The computer vendor estimates that a
new and better system would cost $72,500.

Finally, the president of the academy did not
adequately monitor projects administered by the
academy's Department of Continuing Maritime
Education. Contracts and agreements for
academy projects that totaled $122,100 were not
signed by an authorized academy official and
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were not reviewed or approved by the Department
of General Services as required. Furthermore,
as a result of inadequate monitoring by the
academy, $101,200 of tuition and contract
payments related to the projects was deposited
into the foundation checking account, which is
not subject to state fiscal controls. Because
the money was not deposited into the State
Treasury as required, the State lost $1,300 in
interest revenue.

RECOMMENDATIONS

To protect state and federal assets, the
academy's board of governors should take the
following actions:

- Cooperate fully with the investigation that
is being conducted by the United States Coast
Guard;

- Inform the State Attorney General's Office of
possible violations of federal and state laws
by academy officials, and, to ensure that the
State's interests are protected, involve the
Attorney General's Office in any negotiations
with federal officials;

- Establish written procedures to keep the
board of governors fully informed as to how
the academy is using the Golden Bear;

- Ensure that the academy follows required
state contracting procedures and that academy
money is deposited into the State Treasury as
required;

- Require the academy to charge the foundation
for the use of state facilities and
equipment;

- Direct the academy to collect the $6,300 in
back rent owed by the former operator of the
campus store and canteen; and

- Direct the academy to develop written
guidelines to ensure that future contracts
with the foundation protect the State's
interest.
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In addition, to ensure that state assets are
protected in transactions between the academy
and the foundation, the Legislature should
amend the California Education Code to require
that the foundation be subject to the same
fiscal controls as foundations and auxiliaries
of the California State University System.

AGENCY COMMENTS

The president of the California Maritime
Academy reports that since this is the first
review of the relationship between the academy
and the foundation, errors were discovered.
The academy, with the cooperation of the
foundation, intends to correct these errors and
comply with the recommendations of the Office
of the Auditor General. The president also
reports that the board of governors of the
California Maritime Academy will separately
respond to this report.



INTRODUCTION

The California Maritime Academy (academy) was established in
1929 to educate officers for the United States Merchant Marine. The
academy's four-year programs lead to a bachelor of science degree that
prepares students for careers in the maritime industry. The academy is
a residential college with a student enrollment of approximately 400
students. In addition to classroom instruction, students take a yearly
three-month cruise aboard the Golden Bear, which is a ship that the
federal government loans to the academy for use as a training vessel.
Ship maintenance and fuel costs are paid by the federal government.
The academy, which is established within the State Department of
Education, is administered by a seven-member board of governors
appointed by the Governor of California. To pay for 1its programs in
fiscal year 1987-88, the academy requested approximately $6.5 million

in funding from the State.

The California Maritime Academy Foundation (foundation) is a
private, nonprofit corporation established in 1972 to support the
educational programs of the academy through the donation of funds,
services, training aids, and professional skills. Sources of
foundation revenue include grants from corporate and educational
foundations, cash donations, and boats donated to and sold by the
foundation. The foundation is governed by a board of trustees that
includes the president of the academy. In addition, the deputy

president of the academy is the president of the foundation.



SCOPE AND METHODOLOGY

The initial purpose of our review was to identify transactions
between the foundation and the academy and to determine the effect of
these transactions, if any, on the financial audit of the academy that
the Office of the Auditor General was also conducting. To accomplish

this purpose, it was essential for us to review foundation records.

Our initial request for access to foundation records was
denied by the foundation president because the foundation's attorney
advised him that access to any of the foundation records was not a
legal right of the Office of the Auditor General. We obtained an
opinion from the Legislative Counsel that confirmed the opinion of the
foundation's attorney. Nevertheless, as a courtesy, the foundation's
board of trustees gave us Timited access to specific documents.
However, because our access to the records was limited, the scope of
this audit is also limited, and we may not have identified or reviewed
all the transactions between the foundation and the academy. We also
identified some issues that relate solely to the foundation. At a
later date, we will present the results of this examination in a
separate report to the chairman of the board of trustees of the

foundation.

In conducting this audit, we interviewed personnel at the
academy and the foundation. Additionally, we reviewed the foundation's

financial statements, tax returns, and other vrelevant financial



records. We also identified and reviewed specific transactions between
the foundation and the academy and examined related foundation and
academy documents to determine if the transactions complied with state

and federal Taws and regulations.



AUDIT RESULTS

I

THE CALIFORNIA MARITIME ACADEMY'S
USE OF THE GOLDEN BEAR,
A FEDERAL TRAINING SHIP

The California Maritime Academy (academy) allowed the
California Maritime Academy Foundation (foundation) to inappropriately
use the Golden Bear, which is a federal training ship. The foundation
collected fees and retained the profit from 255 unauthorized passengers
who took a cruise on the Golden Bear to Expo '86 in Canada. The
president of the academy and his deputy, who is also commander of the
training ship, failed to inform federal officials or the academy's
board of governors that they intended to take fee-paying passengers on
the cruise. Currently, the United States Coast Guard is conducting an
investigation to determine if the academy has violated federal maritime
law by wusing the Golden Bear to carry passengers. As a result of
allowing unauthorized passengers on the ship, academy officials may be

subject to federal and state civil or criminal penalties.

Inappropriate Use of
the Golden Bear

From July 26 through August 6, 1986, staff and students of the
academy took the Golden Bear, which is a federal training ship, to
Expo '86 1in Canada. The foundation charged a fee for foundation and

academy staff, families, and friends to go on the cruise and retained a



$25,600 profit, which includes the fees paid by the 255 cruise
participants who were not crew members or academy students. According
to the deputy president of the academy, who is also the commanding
officer of the training ship, the academy and the foundation offered
the cruise to raise funds. Before the cruise to Expo '86, neither the
president of the academy nor his deputy informed federal officials or
the academy's board of governors that the foundation would have fee-
paying passengers on the cruise. Currently, the United States Coast
Guard is conducting a complete investigation to determine if the
academy has violated federal maritime law by using the Golden Bear to

carry fee-paying passengers.

The Golden Bear belongs to the federal government, and the
academy is to use the ship for training purposes only. The director of
the Office of Maritime Labor and Training within the federal Department
of Transportation, who administers the training vessel program, stated
that he had not been informed by academy officials that the ship had
carried 255 passengers on the cfuise to Expo '86 or that the foundation
had made a profit of $25,600. The director further stated that no
known basis exists in Title XIII of the Merchant Marine Act of 1936
that could be construed to permit the carriage of fee-paying passengers
aboard a government-owned training ship. He also stated that the
commanding officer of the training ship does not have the authority to
use the ship for any purpose other than the training of young men and

women to be merchant marines.



The Golden Bear is not certified to carry any passengers.
Section 3301 and Section 3311 of the United States Code, Title 46,
require that a ship obtain a certificate of inspection. Further,
Section 3501 of the United States Code, Title 46, requires the
certificate to show the number of passengers that the ship is permitted
to carry, and Section 3501 also specifies that a 1iability exists for
carrying more passengers than allowed. The Golden Bear's certificate

of inspection states that the ship may carry no passengers.

We requested an opinion from the Legislative Counsel (see
Appendix A for the complete opinion) as to whether or not the
foundation could use the Golden Bear as a passenger vessel and make a
profit by charging the passengers fees. The Legislative Counsel stated
that the foundation, acting through its president, unlawfully used the
training ship as a passenger vessel and unlawfully made a profit by
charging a fee for passenger accommodations. The Legislative Counsel
cited Section 504 of the California Penal Code, which has been
interpreted to prohibit the unauthorized use of government property by
public officials, and concluded, "As an official of the academy, the
president of the foundation acted to cause the ship to be used for an
unauthorized purpose, namely, as a passenger vessel for profit to the
foundation." In addition, the Legislative Counsel stated that the
action also violated Section 641 of the United States Code, Title 18,

which prohibits the unauthorized use of federal property.



Possible Consequences of the
Inappropriate Use of the Golden Bear

We also requested that the Legislative Counsel determine who
would be Tliable for paying any fines or penalties that could result
from the unlawful use of the training vessel. According to the
Legislative Counsel, under the terms of Section 3318(a) of the United
States Code, Title 46, both the board of governors of the academy and
the president of the academy would be liable for violation of the
certification and inspection requirements governing passenger vessels
if the academy training ship was used as a passenger vessel. Further,
under Section 3318(a), the commanding officer of the training ship
would also be liable for violating these requirements during the time
the ship was being used to carry passengers. Liability could include a
civil penalty of $5,000 for each individual responsible. In addition,
Section 3501 of the United States Code, Title 46, provides that -each
passenger can recover the cost of passage and $100 for each passenger
on board in excess of the number of passengers that a ship is certified
to carry. Furthermore, according to the Legislative Counsel, the
deputy president of the academy, as the person who caused the training
ship to be used as a passenger vessel, may be liable for violation of
Section 504 of the California Penal Code, which prohibits the
unauthorized use of state property, and Section 641 of the United
States Code, Title 18, which prohibits the unauthorized use of federal

property.



Even though Section 3318 of the United States Code, Title 46,
states that the academy's board of governors can be held personally
responsible for violations of vregulations applicable to a training
vessel, neither the president of the academy nor his deputy informed
the academy's board of governors that the foundation would have
fee-paying passengers on the cruise to Expo '86. At a meeting before
the cruise, the academy's board of governors approved the use of the
Golden Bear for the cruise. However, the board was not told by the
deputy president of the academy that 255 passengers, in addition to the
academy crew, would be on the cruise and that the foundation intended
to keep the profit from the fees collected. After the cruise, the
academy president told the board of governors that the passengers had

paid "cost." No profit was mentioned.

Finally, the deputy president of the academy, in his
additional role as president of the foundation, did inform the
foundation's board of trustees before the cruise that the profit from
the fees charged to the passengers on the cruise would be kept by the
foundation. According to the Legislative Counsel, the foundation, as a
corporate entity, is responsible for actions officially taken by its
officers. In this case, the foundation may be subject to Tiability for

the actions of its president.



CONCLUSION

The California Maritime Academy has allowed the California
Maritime Academy Foundation to inappropriately use the Golden
Bear, which is a federal training ship. The foundation
collected fees and retained the profit from 255 unauthorized
passengers who took a cruise on the Golden Bear to Expo '86 in
Canada. The president of the academy and his deputy, who is
also commander of the training ship, failed to notify federal
officials or the academy's board of governors of their
decision to take fee-paying passengers on the cruise.
Currently, the United States Coast Guard is conducting an
investigation to determine if the academy has violated federal
maritime law by using the Golden Bear to carry passengers. As
a result of allowing unauthorized passengers on the ship,
state officials may be subject to federal and state civil or

criminal penalties.

RECOMMENDATIONS

To protect state and federal assets, the board of governors of
the California Maritime Academy should take the following

actions:

- Cooperate fully with the investigation that is being

conducted by the United States Coast Guard;
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Inform the State Attorney General's O0ffice of possible
violations of federal and state law by academy officials,
and, to ensure that the State's interests are protected,
involve the Attorney General's Office in any negotiations

with federal officials; and

Establish written procedures to keep the board of

governors fully informed as to how the academy is using

the Golden Bear.
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THE CALIFORNIA MARITIME ACADEMY'S
MANAGEMENT OF CONTRACTS

The California Maritime Academy (academy) did not follow state
procedures when it contracted with the California Maritime Academy
Foundation (foundation) or when it developed projects for the academy's
Department of Continuing Maritime Education. Specifically, the academy
contracted with the foundation to run the campus store and canteen but
did not solicit competitive bids, did not submit the contract to the
Department of General Services for review and approval, and did not
require reimbursement for an estimated $13,500 in annual costs for the
use of academy facilities and equipment. In addition, the academy has
not collected $6,300 in back rent owed by the former operator of the
campus store and canteen. Further, when the academy decided to
purchase a computer, it did not solicit competitive bids and did not
adequately monitor the computer contracts with the foundation. As a
result of these conditions, the academy has paid $208,000 for a
computer system that the academy believed it was purchasing although
the computer system still belongs to the foundation. Finally, the
academy president did not properly monitor projects administered by the
academy's Department of Continuing Maritime Education. As a result of
inadequate monitoring, project agreements were not reviewed or approved
by the Department of General Services and were not properly authorized
by academy officials. Also, over $101,200 from contract payments and

tuition fees related to the projects was deposited into the foundation
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checking account, which is outside state fiscal control. Because the
money was not deposited into the State Treasury, the State lost $1,300

in interest revenue.

Campus Store and Canteen Contracts

For the benefit of its students and staff, the academy
provides a campus store and canteen. Traditionally, the academy has
contracted with an outside vendor to provide for the sale of clothing,

textbooks, educational supplies, and food to students and staff.

Contract With the Foundation

In September 1986, the deputy president of the academy, who is
also the foundation president, informed the foundation's board of
trustees that the academy wanted the foundation to take over the
operation of the campus store and canteen. In October 1986, the deputy
president of the academy proposed to the board of trustees that he
oversee the operation of the campus store and canteen, and the board of
trustees set aside money for the foundation to take over the operation.
In November 1986, the academy terminated its contract with the former
operator of the campus store and canteen and contracted with the
foundation. The deputy president negotiated for the foundation and
signed the contract on the foundation's behalf, and the president of

the academy signed on the academy's behalf.
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However, the academy did not follow required state contracting
procedures when it contracted with the foundation to operate the campus
store and canteen. Competitive bids were not solicited for the
contract, and the contract was not submitted to the Department of
General Services for review and approval. Also, the contract contains
no provisions to ensure that the State is vreimbursed for the
foundation's use of academy facilities and equipment. The campus store
and canteen occupies 1,359 square feet of academy space. When the
foundation uses academy property, the academy is required to obtain
reimbursement. To estimate the reimbursement owed by the foundation,
we used the rate that the Department of General Services charges when
it rents state property. In fiscal year 1986-87, the yearly rental
rate for state property was $9.72 per square foot. Using this rate, we
estimate that the foundation should pay $13,200 a year in rent for
using the academy's facilities. In addition, in fiscal year 1986-87,
the academy paid for the foundation's phone costs at the campus store
and canteen, which were $300. Because the contract lacks any provision
to recover these costs, the State will not receive an estimated annual
reimbursement of $13,500 for the foundation's use of state facilities
and equipment. Finally, the contract does not follow state
requirements in terms of content and format. As a result of all these
conditions, the State has no assurance that its interests are

protected.

The State Administrative Manual, Section 1391, requires that

state agencies solicit bids when renting state property. In addition,
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the California Government Code, Section 11013, requires that any
contract that establishes a store or canteen on state property and that
is not specifically exempted by the Department of General Services be
approved by the Department of General Services. Further, the State
Administrative Manual, Section 1390.2, which refers to canteen and
concession contracts, requires that the State be reimbursed for the
costs incurred for the use of equipment, space, and utilities and for
maintenance and administrative services. Finally, the State
Administrative Manual, Section 1212.1 and Section 1212.2, requires a

specific format and specific contents for a state contract.

Contract With the Former Operator
of the Campus Store and Canteen

The academy has not obtained reimbursement from the former
operator of the campus store and canteen for the use of academy
facilities. When his contract with the academy was terminated, the
former operator owed the academy at least $6,300 in back rent. Because
of the owed back rent, the deputy president of the academy, acting as
president of the foundation, reduced by $1,800 the amount that the
foundation was willing to pay for the inventory that it purchased from
the former operator. However, we are not aware of an agreement between
the foundation and the academy that requires the foundation to pay the
$1,800 to the academy. In addition, because the academy did not
properly monitor the contract with the former operator of the campus
store and canteen, the academy has not collected any of the $6,300 in

back rent.
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Computer Rental Contract

In July 1980, the former president of the academy asked the
foundation's board of trustees to purchase a computer system for the
academy. The academy would then lease the computer system from the
foundation with the intention of eventually purchasing it. In
addition, the academy would pay maintenance and operating costs and
allow the foundation complete access to the computer system. The
former president proposed that the foundation consider the purchase of
the computer system as an investment and guaranteed a 50 percent return
in six years. The foundation agreed to purchase the computer system
and received the former president's assurance that, although the State
required that the contract Tast for only one year, the academy would

renew the contract annually for a period of not less than five years.

However, in negotiating the contract for the computer system,
the academy did not follow required state contracting procedures. The
former president did not solicit competitive bids for the contract
because he believed that the bidding would take too much time. In
addition, when the academy submitted the contract for fiscal year
1980-81 for approval, the academy did not inform the Department of
General Services that the academy intended to renew the contract for at
least the following five years. Also, the academy did not mention its
option to purchase the computer system. However, in 1983, in response
to an inquiry from the Department of General Services, the business

manager of the academy stated that the academy's understanding was that
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the academy would own the computer system when annual rentals equalled
the total cost of the computer system. According to an official of the
Department of General Services, the academy has assured the Department
of General Services each year since 1983 that the title to the computer
system would revert to the State when the accumulated rental payments

equalled the foundation's investment.

We examined foundation records to determine the amount the
foundation has paid for the computer system. Because these records
were incomplete, we reconstructed the payments the foundation made.
Based upon this vreconstruction, we estimate that the foundation paid
less than $205,000, including interest, for the computer system.
Between November 1980 and June 1987, the academy contracted to pay
$208,000 to the foundation for the rental of the computer system. If
the academy's representation to the Department of General Services had
been correct, the academy would have received the title to the computer
system by June 30, 1987. However, the deputy president states that the
agreement was never a purchase agreement. He suggests that if the
academy wishes to purchase the computer system, the academy should
negotiate a new agreement with the foundation. He developed a purchase
proposal that shows a balance owed by the academy at June 30, 1987, of
$119,000 and estimates that the academy could own the computer system
by 1994. This balance differs from our estimate because the deputy
president of the academy includes a finance charge greater than that
paid by the foundation. Also, the vendor of the computer system

estimates that a new computer system, including software, that would
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provide a higher Tlevel of service than the current computer system

owned by the foundation would cost approximately $72,500."

Because the academy did not follow required contracting
procedures for the acquisition of a computer system and submitted
inaccurate and incomplete information to the Department of General
Services, the academy has contracted to pay $208,000 for a computer
system that the academy believed it was purchasing although the
computer system still belongs to the foundation. Further, the academy
has paid an additional $116,700 in maintenance costs for the computer

system because these costs were not covered by the rental agreement.

Sections 5200 through 5221 of the State Administrative Manual
contain specific requirements for the acquisition of computer equipment
that include the requirement that state agencies solicit competitive
bids. In addition, Section 5207 of the State Administrative Manual
requires an agency to determine the most cost-effective method of
obtaining computer services. Further, the academy should provide the
Department of General Services with accurate and complete information
to ensure that state funds are used economically. An official of the
Department of General Services stated that the Department of General
Services accepted the academy's justification for the computer
contracts because of the close relationship between the academy and the
foundation. However, the official also stated that if the contracts
had been between the academy and a private concern other than the
foundation, the Department of General Services would probably have

requested additional information before approving the contracts.
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Contracts for Continuing
Education Projects

The academy's Department of Continuing Maritime Education
offers special training programs that are outside the scope of regular
undergraduate study and also contracts to work on projects at the
request of the maritime industry. The academy pays from 1its general
fund for the Department of Continuing Maritime Education's use of
academy facilities, equipment, and staff. To reimburse the academy's
general fund, the Department of Continuing Maritime Education charges

tuition to students or bills contractors for the services provided.

The academy has not followed state contracting procedures for
three continuing education projects that amount to more than $122,100.
In addition, the academy did not properly monitor the deposit and
payment of contract money. The three projects consist of a special
residential training program at the academy for nine individuals, for
which the foundation received $54,000; a contract for over $53,600 that
involved maritime traffic research in San Pablo Bay; and an unsigned

contract for $14,500 that involved training in maneuvering ships.

Contracts Not
Properly Authorized

Although the president of the academy was aware of the
projects, he did not require that they be properly authorized. For

example, the president of the academy told the board of governors that
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the academy did have a contract for the residential training program
when, instead, for the nine individuals, the academy had nine order
forms that were signed only by the recipient of the service. The nine
order forms, which totaled $54,000, were not reviewed or approved by
the Department of General Services, were not signed by an authorized
academy official, and did not comply with state contract requirements
as to format or content. In addition, the contract for over $53,600
was not submitted to the Department of General Services for review or
approval.  Further, the director of the academy's Department of
Continuing Maritime Education signed the contract although he had no
authority to do so. Finally, the third project contract for $14,500
was never signed by the academy although the foundation received a
payment of over $9,700 in July 1987 for work performed by academy
staff. The State Administrative Manual, Section 1212.4, requires that
contracts be signed by authorized individuals and that the names and
position titles of those individuals be on file at the Department of
General Services. Academy contracts over $10,000 require the approval
of the Department of General Services. In addition, the State
Administrative Manual, Section 1206, states that no contract that
exceeds $50,000 will be exempt from a review by the Department of

General Services.

Unauthorized Deposit and
Payment of Academy Money

During the first seven months of 1987, over $101,200 in

tuition and contract payments were earned by the academy from the
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continuing education projects that were improperly authorized.
However, the academy did not properly monitor the deposit and payment
of this money. Consequently, the money was deposited into the
foundation's checking account, which is outside state fiscal control.
The director of the Department of Maritime Continuing Education
requested that the money be deposited into the foundation's checking
account instead of the academy account. The director stated that he

wanted the money available to fund other projects.

Between January 21 and June 24, 1987, the amount of academy
cash in the foundation's checking account ranged from $29,300 to
$55,400. While state fiscal controls that apply to the academy for the
deposit and payment of money do not apply to the foundation,
Section 70100 of the California Education Code requires that all money
from continuing education programs be deposited into the State
Treasury. The State 1lost approximately $1,300 in interest revenue
because the money from the projects was not deposited into the State
Treasury. In addition, payments of academy money were made from the
foundation's checking account at the request of the director of the
academy's Department of Continuing Maritime Education without the
authorization of the president of the academy. Section 70029 of the
California Education Code requires that all money that is paid out be

authorized by the president of the academy.

The deputy president of the academy stated that the continuing

education transactions were made without his knowledge or consent
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because he was away for the first three months of the year on a cruise.
Further, he stated that he was not aware of the transactions until he
returned in April 1987 and that the deposit of state money into the
foundation's account was a "very new problem" that had only occurred
during the first part of 1987. In September 1987, the foundation paid
the academy over $6,900. According to the deputy president, this
amount was the balance of the academy's continuing education funds that

remained in the foundation's checking account.

CONCLUSION

The California Maritime Academy did not follow required state
procedures when it contracted with the California Maritime
Academy Foundation or when it developed projects for the
academy's Department of Continuing Maritime Education. As a
result, the State has no assurance that academy funds were
used economically or that the State's interests were
protected. For example, when it contracted with the
foundation to run the campus store and canteen, the academy
did not solicit competitive bids or require reimbursement for
an estimated $13,500 in annual costs for the use of academy
facilities. In addition, the academy has not collected $6,300
in back rent owed by the former operator of the campus store
and canteen. Further, the academy did not solicit competitive
bids or adequately monitor its computer contracts with the

foundation. As a result of these conditions, the academy has
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paid $208,000 for a computer system that the academy believed
it was purchasing although the system still belongs to the
foundation. Finally, the academy president did not properly
monitor projects administered by the Department of Continuing
Maritime Education. As a result of inadequate monitoring,
project agreements were not reviewed or approved by the
Department of General Services and were not properly
authorized by academy officials. Also, over $101,200 from
contract payments and tuition fees related to the projects was
deposited into the foundation checking account, which is
outside state fiscal control, rather than into the State
Treasury. Consequently, the State lost approximately $1,300

in interest revenue.

RECOMMENDATIONS

To ensure that the California Maritime Academy follows
required state contracting procedures and that state funds are
used economically and are protected by state fiscal controls,
the board of governors of the academy should take the

following actions:

- Direct the academy to obtain competitive bids for the
contract for the campus store and canteen and submit the
resulting contract to the Department of General Services

for approval;
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Require the academy to charge the foundation for the use

of state facilities and equipment;

Direct the academy to collect the $6,300 in back rent
owed by the former operator of the campus store and

canteen;

Direct the academy to evaluate the economic benefits of
the computer-rental agreement for fiscal year 1987-88 and
submit this evaluation to the Department of General
Services with an accurate and complete justification of

the cost;

Direct the academy to follow state competitive bidding

procedures for the lease or purchase of a computer;

Direct the academy to develop written guidelines to
ensure that future contracts with the California Maritime

Academy Foundation protect the State's interests; and

Instruct the president of the academy to monitor the
projects of the Department of Continuing Maritime
Education to ensure that required contracting procedures
are followed, that academy money is deposited into the
State Treasury, and that payments are properly

authorized.
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In addition, to ensure that state assets are protected in
transactions between the academy and the foundation, the Legislature
should amend the California Education Code to require that the
foundation be subject to the same fiscal controls as foundations and

auxilijaries of the California State University System.

We conducted this review under the authority vested in the
Auditor General by Section 10500 et seq. of the California Government
Code and according to generally accepted governmental auditing
standards. We Timited our review to those areas specified in the audit

scope section of this report.

Respectfully submitted,

\j/wmda/.%

THOMAS W. HAYES <:7

Auditor General
Date: November 23, 1987
Staff: Richard I. LaRock, CPA, Audit Manager

Wendy T. Rodriguez, CPA
Thomas J. Wurtz
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Mr. Thomas W. Hayes
Auditor General

660 J Street, Suite 300
Sacramento, CA 95814

California Maritime Academy - #23195

Dear Mr. Hayes:
FACTS

You have asked us to assume that the following
statements are true for the purpose of answering the several
questions set forth below.

The California Maritime Academy Foundation, a private
nonprofit corporation established for the support of the
California Maritime Academy, under the direction of its
president, who is the deputy to the superintendent of the
academy, charged a fee and arranged for the transportation of
255 family members and friends of the academy staff and students
on the Golden Bear training ship, a 7,987 gross ton vessel, from
Vallejo, California, to Vancouver, B.C., during Expo ’‘86. The
superintendent of the academy was aware of the arrangements made
by the foundation in connection with this cruise. The California
Maritime Academy Board of Governors was not informed before the
cruise that these passengers would be on board. The trip
generated a profit of $25,600 which was not reported to the

board. !
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Mr. Thomas W. Hayes - p. 2 - $#23195

QUESTION NO. 1

Was the California Maritime Academy Foundation acting
legally when it used the training ship Golden Bear as a passenger
vessel to make a profit by charging a fee for passenger
accommodations?

OPINTON NO. 1

, The California Maritime Academy Foundation, acting
through its president, unlawfully used the training ship as a
passenger vessel to make a profit by charging a fee for passenger
accommodations.

ANATYSTS NO. 1

The California Maritime Academyl is established
pursuant to Part 43 (commencing with Section 70000) of the
Education Code in order to "provide instruction on the nautical
sciences, marine engineering, and related fields, including all
those necessary to provide the highest quality licensed officers
for the American Merchant Marine and California maritime
industries" (Sec. 70000, Ed. C.). The academy is a part of the
State Department of Education and is administered by the
California Maritime Academy Board of Governors2 (Sec. 70010,

Ed. C.). The board is authorized to receive from the federal
government a vessel or vessels detailed or furnished with all
apparel, charts, books, and instruments of navigation:

(Sec. 70026, Ed. C.). The academy has received at least one such
training ship from the federal Department of Transportation,
Maritime Administration, known as the "Golden Bear" (Governor’s
Budget, 1987-88, p. E-125; see also 46 U.S.C. Sec. 1295c and

46 C.F.R. 310.4).

The board is authorized to accept gifts, donations,
bequests, and devises which are made to the academy and which
will be of benefit to the state and the academy (Sec. 70028,
Ed. C.). The board is required to receive the approval of the
Director of Finance in accepting these gifts (Sec. 70028,

Ed. C.). We are informed that a nonprofit corporation, the
California Maritime Academy Foundation,3 has been formed to aid
the academy.

1 Hereafter referred to as the academy.
2 Hereafter referred to as the board.

3 Hereafter referred to as the foundation.
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Mr. Thomas W. Hayes - p. 3 - #23195

The Facts presented indicate that the president of the
foundation organized a program whereby persons who are not
students or staff members at the academy could book passage on
the Golden Bear. Presumably, any profits from this endeavor
would be used by the foundation to benefit. the academy. The
issue is whether this was a lawful act by the foundation.

The state and federal statutes and regulations directly
relating to the academy and the training ship make no reference
to the use of the ship to transport passengers. However, the
applicable state and federal statutes indicate that the training
ship available to the academy is intended to be used for
instructional purposes in order to train "young men and women to
become officers in the merchant marine of the United States"

(46 C.F.R. 310.4(a)(5); see also 46 U.S.C. Sec. 1295c(c) (1) (A)
and Secs. 70000 .and 70026, Ed. C.). Thus, use of the training
ship for fundraising purposes or as ‘a passenger vessel is
apparently not authorized by the applicable statutes or
regulations, and thus its use for that purpose is unauthorized.4

It is unlawful for any officer of the state to
fraudulently appropriate "to any use or purpose not in the due
and lawful execution of his trust, any property which he has in
his possession or under his control by virtue of his trust ..."
(Sec. 504, Pen. C.). Section 504 of the Penal Code has been
construed to prohibit the unauthorized use of government property
by public officials (People v. Nathanson, 134 Cal. App. 2d
43, 47; People v. Harby, 51 Cal. App. 24 759, 767). As an
official of the academy, the president of the foundation acted to
cause the ship to be used for an unauthorized purpose; namely, as
a passenger vessel for profit to the foundation.

Thus, under Section 504 of the Penal Code, the
foundation was prohibited from selling passages on the training
ship. This action also violated a similar provision in federal
law which prohibits the unauthorized conversion of federal
property (18 U.S.C. Sec. 641; see Adolfson v. United States,
159 F. 24 883, 885).

Therefore, in our opinion the foundation, under its
president, unlawfully used the training ship as a passenger
vessel to make a profit by charging a fee for passenger
accommodations.

4 The ship is the property of the United States (46 U.S.C.
Sec. 1295c(c) (1) (A) (v): 46 C.F.R. 310.4(a) (5)):; however, while it
is on loan to the academy, it is under the complete control of
the state (see 46 C.F.R. 310.4(c)).
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Mr. Thomas W. Hayes - p. 4 - #23195

QUESTION NO. 2

Was the training ship, while being used to carry fare
paying passengers, subject to federal laws regarding safety
standards for passenger vessels?

OPINION NO. 2

The training ship was subject to federal laws regarding
safety standards for passenger vessels when it was used to carry
fare paying passengers.

ANATLYSTS NO. 2

Subtitle II (commencing with Section 2101) of Title 46
of the United States Code covers federal regulation of vessels
. and seamen. For purposes of the subtitle, "passenger vessel" is
defined as "a vessel of at least 100 gross tons carrying at least
one passenger for hire" (46 U.S.C. Sec. 2101(22)). Chapter 33
(commencing with Section 3301) of Subtitle II governs the
certification and inspection of vessels, and Section 3301 lists
the categories of vessels subject to inspection. This list
includes passenger vessels and nautical school vessels such as
the training ship (46 U.S.C. Sec. 3301(2) and (4)). Being
subject to inspection, a passenger vessel or a nautical school
vessel must be inspected for certification before going into
service and reinspected once a year (46 U.S.C. Sec. 3307(1)).

There are requirements imposed on passenger vessels
that are not imposed on public nautical school vessels, such as
structural fire protection (46 C.F.R.:72.05-1 et seq.),
ventilation (46 C.F.R. 72-15.1), passenger accommodations (46
C.F.R. 72.25-1), and fire detecting systems (46 C.F.R. 76.05-1).
In other cases the requirements are different, such as means of
escape (46 C.F.R. 72.10-5 and 167.20-10) and fire extinguishing
systems (46 C.F.R. 76.05-15 et seq. and 167.45-1).

We, of course, cannot say whether the training ship
also met the requirements for a passenger vessel.

There is no exception to the passenger vessel safety
inspection requirements for a training vessel used as a passenger
vessel. Thus, in order for a vessel such as the training ship,
which exceeds 100 gross tons, to carry passengers for hire, the
vessel would have to be certified as a passenger vessel.

Therefore, in our opinion the training ship was subject

to federal laws regarding safety standards for passenger vessels
when it was used to carry fare paying passengers.
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Mr. Thomas W. Hayes - p. 5 - #23195

QUESTION NO. 3

If the training ship was subject to those laws and
regulations applicable to passenger vessels, who would be liable
for paying any associated fines or penalties for noncompliance?

OPINTON AND ANALYSTS NO. 3

Subsection (a) of Section 3318 of Title 46 of the
United States Code makes the owner, charterer, managing operator,
agent, master, or individual in charge of a vessel operated in
violation of Chapter 33 (commencing with Section 3301) of
Subtitle II (relating to certification and inspection) of that
title, or regulations adopted pursuant to that chapter, liable to
the United States government for a civil penalty of not more than
$5,000. ‘

In this case, the board is responsible for maintaining,
managing, and controlling the academy and has overall
responsibility for cruises of the training ship (Secs. 70020
and 70021, Ed. C.).5 The superintendent of the academy, subject
to the regqulations of the board, has direct control, supervision,

and management of the academy and all the property of the academy
(Sec. 70032, Ed. C.).

Thus, under the terms of subsection (a) of Section 3318
of Title 46 of the United States Code, both the board and the
superintendent would be liable for violation of the certification
and inspection requirements governing passenger vessels if the
academy training ship was used as a passenger vessel.
Furthermore, under this subsection, the master of the training
ship would likewise be liable for violation of these requirements
during the time the ship was being used to carry passengers.

QUESTION NO. 4

Did the academy or the foundation violate any other
civil or criminal laws?

OPTINTON AND ANALYSIS NO. 4
We are not aware of any violations of any other state

or federal laws relating to the academy or operation of the
training ship based on the facts submitted to us.

5 Technically, the board is required to provide for training
cruises to and from San Francisco Harbor. The facts indicate
that the training ship operates out of Vallejo, California.
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Mr. Thomas W. Hayes - p. 6 - #23195

QUESTION NO. 5

Was the superintendent of the academy required by
statute to inform the board of the details of the foundation’s
involvement in the cruise?

OPINION AND ANALYSTS NO. 5

According to the Facts, the superintendent of the
academy was aware that the foundation had arranged for fare
paying passengers to accompany the training ship on its cruise to
Vancouver, B.C., but did not inform the board of this fact.

As stated in Opinion and Analysis No. 3, the board has
overall responsibility for cruises to and from the San Francisco
Bay area, and the superintendent, who is appointed by the board
(subd. (a), Sec. 70021, Ed. C.), has direct control of the
academy and its property. The applicable statutes regarding the
academy do not specify the information that the superintendent is
required to convey to the board, and we are not aware of any
instructions which the board may have given to the superintendent
as to what information is to be conveyed to the board.

QUESTION NO. 6

The president of the foundation is also the deputy to
the superintendent of the academy and the captain of the training
ship. As deputy to the superintendent, he attended the board
meeting where the cruise was discussed; as president of the
foundation, he collected the fares for the cruise; and as the
captain of the training ship, he was the officer responsible for
the ship on the cruise. 1Is the deputy to the superintendent
liable for violations of state and federal law relating to mlsuse
of the training ship?

OPINION AND ANALYSIS NO. 6
Criminal Violations

As stated in Analysis No. 1, use of the training ship
as a passenger vessel for fundraising purposes may have
constituted an unlawful action for misuse of government property
under Section 504 of the Penal Code and an unauthorized
conversion of federal property pursuant to Section 641 of
Title 18 of the United States Code. As the person who committed
acts which caused the training ship to be used as a passenger
vessel, the deputy to the superintendent may be liable for
violation of these provisions.
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Mr. Thomas W. Hayes - p. 7 - #23195

Civil Penalties

As stated in Opinion and Analysis No. 3, the master of
the vessel would be liable for a violation of Section 3318 of
Title 46 of the United States Code relating to certification and
inspection of a ship that is used as a passenger vessel.

QUESTION NO. 7

May the deputy to the superintendent of the academy, as
captain of the training ship, absolve the foundation or the
academy of liability for use of the training ship for fundraising
purposes?

OPINION AND ANATLYSIS NO. 7

As stated in Opinion and Analysis No. 3, the board and
superintendent of the academy are responsible for management and
operation of the training ship. Thus, even though the
superintendent is not the master of the vessel, he or she is
still responsible for proper use of the ship, and the board
retains overall responsibility for the ship. These respective
duties remain with the superintendent and the board regardless of
the actions of the master of the ship.

Similarly, the foundation, as a corporate entity, is
responsible for actions officially taken by its officers (Dart
Industries, Inc. v. Liberty Mutual Insurance Co., 484 F. 24
1295, 1296). Thus, the foundation had an ongoing responsibility
for the acts of its president who could not absolve the
foundation of responsibility for his or her conduct that occurred
in the scope of his or her duties as president (see Magnolia
Motor & Logging Company v. United States, 264 F. 2d 950, 953-954;
cert. den. 4 L. Ed. 24 61). ‘

Very truly yours,

Bion M. Gregory
Legislative Counsel

oy o0 f% '

Deputy Leglslatlve Counsel
RBW:jdg

cc: Honorable Art Agnos, Chairman
Joint Legislative Audit Committee
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STATE OF CALIFORNIA GEORGE DEUKMEJIAN, Governor

CALIFORNIA MARITIME ACADEMY
P.O. BOX 1392

VALLEIO, CA 94590

707—48%A0X  648-4200

November 18, 1987 -

Mr. Thomas W. Hayes
Auditor General

State of California
660 J Street, Suite 300
Sacramento, CA 95814

Dear Mr. Hayes:

Enclosed are my agency comments on the draft "Review of the California
Maritime Academy's Interactions with "the California Maritime Academy
Foundation" provided to me on 12 November 1987.

I have fully briefed the Board of Governors on this report and the Board
will be commenting to you separately.

I regret that adequate time (more than five working days) was not
provided to respond to an audit that was conducted over the period from the
middle of February to the middle of November. I recommend that the process be
reviewed.

I have found the audit findings useful in identifying management
deficiencies. The audit will have proved instrumental in bringing the
relationship between the Academy and the Foundation into conformance with the
State's administrative procedures.

It is the intent of the Academy and the Academy Foundation to maintain a
relationship and conduct business in compliance with all State regulations.
Thus access was provided to the Auditor General allowing evaluation of this
relationship. As this is the first review of the relationship between the
Academy and the Foundation, errors were discovered. The Academy, with the
cooperation of the Foundation, intends to correct these errors.

I would welcome the auditors back in a few years, confident that our

JJE:pm
Enclosure
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REPORT BY THE
OFFICE OF THE AUDITOR GENERAL
F-759

A REVIEW OF THE CALIFORNIA MARITIME ACADEMY'S

INTERACTIONS WITH THE
CALIFORNIA MARITIME ACADEMY FOUNDATION

Agency Comments

The California Maritime Academy's Use of the GOLDEN BEAR

The following background comments are pertinent to the use of the training
ship at Expo '86. First, the Academy looks for opportunities to make training
cruises that supplement the regular training cruise and do not adversely affect
the academic program. The ship is provided by the federal government for use
as a training ship. Taking the ship to Expo '86 was an ideal opportunity to
gain additional training for our students. The Board of Governors approved the
trip (see Attachment A) and the Maritime Administration also approved the trip
and obtained the necessary diplomatic clearance for the ship's visit (see
Attachment B). The trip was made with the feeling that it was consistent with
the exact purpose of the ship.

It was also felt that the trip was in the best interest of the State in
that the trip also afforded the opportunity for the State Department of
Agriculture to mount a minor trade fair on board in Vancouver for the showing
of California agricultural products. This was done and was very .successful
(see Attachments C and D).

The opportunity to take guests was only ancillary to the training purpose
of the trip. That appeared to be a useful opportunity to capitalize on as a
matter of good will and to further the appreciation of the staff, faculty and
family members of the students in the at sea phase of midshipman training. The
Foundation funding of the support costs seemed reasonable to avoid any
indication that State funds were used to support any part of the cost other
than those incurred by the Department of Agriculture. The charge of $150 to be
paid to the Foundation by the guests was to cover the estimated cost to the
Foundation for food, support personnel and services for ten days. That charge
seemed reasonable and clearly was not payment for passage, room rent or like
costs. There were no charges for these since there was no cost incurred and
the guests were occupying space available.

The Academy felt that it was providing a useful and allowable service to
all parties. There was no effort or intent to deceive either the Board of
Governors or the Maritime Administration about the use of the ship in the
Vancouver Expo '86 trip. 1Indeed, the President reported to the Board, which
includes a representative of the Maritime Administration, about the trip upon
its completion (see Attachment E). The Academy did not believe that it
violated the law in the case of the Expo '86 trip. /
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No single person profited by the earnings of the Foundation in this
venture. The sole purpose for the Foundation is to raise funds to benefit the
Academy. Indeed, the students and the State will further benefit directly by
those funds being used for the procurement of equipment for the Academy or as
scholarship money or for some other similar direct benefit.

CMA determined from the appropriate Coast Guard office prior to the cruise
that the use to which the ship was put did not violate the certification and
inspection of the training ship.

The use of the ship as a morale builder, as in the case of the Expo '86
cruise, is similar to the use of the U.S. Navy ships for dependent cruises or
for Navy League familiarization cruises, uses other than for what the ships
were specifically intended, and is similar to familiarization flights by the
Air National Guard. To hold that all activity not specifically authorized is
illegal is a principle that would be questioned by many. In fact, it would
make the State use of the training ship in a good will trade mission to
Australia in 1986 or to the Far East in 1987 for the purpose of boosting the
sale of agricultural products also illegal. CMA feels that such use is also
not illegal but rather benefits many. The Academy will be more explicit in
obtaining Board approval of ship use in the future.

The Academy recognizes that it should avoid even the appearance of
wrongdoing and in retrospect recognizes that such appeared to the auditors.
The Academy will avoid such appearances in the future.

The Academy will, of course, cooperate with the Attorney General's office

and/or the U.S. Coast Guard in any ongoing investigation of alleged wrongdoing
on the part of the Academy and shall keep the Board fully informed. ..

The California Maritime Academy's Management Contracts

Campus Stores and Canteen Contracts

The former operation of the campus store and canteen (which seels required
uniforms, textbooks, sundries and short order foods) had become increasingly
unreliable and financially irresponsible and it became necessary to immediately
replace ‘it and maintain the continuity of operations. The Foundation was able
and willing to do so by investing $85,000 in capital to provide required
service and continuity of operations. The transition was made using an
agreement rather than a competitive bid contract. It did not occur to the
Academy that there would be other bidders willing to return all of the profit
to the Academy and maintain low prices to the students, be totally responsive
to Academy requirements and provide the required inventory of goods and assume
the student accounts.

Further, the Academy envisioned that a special relationship exists between
a foundation dedicated to the support of the Academy and a profit oriented
vendor and consequently negotiated the arrangement with the Foundation. The

/
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Academy agrees that it is appropriate for the State to be reimbursed for the
space and utilities used by the Foundation and agrees that it should abide by
the legal State procedures. The Academy will work with General Services to
develop a proper contracting procedure to see that the State procedures are
followed and State interests are properly considered, including proper
reimbursement for facilities and equipment.

Contract with the Former Operator of the Campus Store and Canteen

The state was reimbursed $1800 from the Foundation in October 1987 as part
of the former operator's reimbursement for facility use (see Attachment F).
The Academy has billed the former operator for facility use reimbursements due.

Computer Rental Contract

The Academy has had an ongoing series of lease-purchase contracts with the
Foundation for the purchase of its main-frame computer.

The Academy recognizes that competitive bidding should have been pursued
in 1980. In the academic and management use of a computer which is under a
lease-purchase agreement, it is unrealistic to go to competitive bidding in
mid-stream of the purchase because of the implications of software and data
base costs associated with systems change and the operational implications of
down time for change.

The audit addresses the fact that the computer could be purchased now at a
price considerably less than the original price and that the State will have
paid more than the actual cash cost of the computer and its two major upgrades.

It is not unusual to find that a computer purchased in 1980 is worth less in
1987. It is also not unusual to pay interest on a lease—purchase arrangment.
Both of these features are operatlng in thlS case.

A new contract has been approved by General Services (see Attachment G).
It recognizes the lease-purchase arrangement 'and -that the computer will be
owned outright by the Academy in May 1989. At this point, it is- clear that the
best interests of the State are served by completing the lease-purchase, taking
ownership in May 1989 and continuing to operate the system for the rest of its
useful life with only continuing maintenance costs.

The Academy recognizes that it erred in not conforming to the various
requirements of the SAM in this initial procurement and will make every effort
in contracting to scrupulously conform to SAM and General Services

requirements.

Continuing Maritime Education Project Contracts

The Director of Continuing Maritime Education (CME) obtained approval from
the President to conduct the projects in question and negotiate the contracts.
The President failed to ascertain that the contracts for services were properly
executed. The Director of CME has now received explicit instructions that he
is not authorized to let contracts for the State or the Foundation and that all
contracting for the State will be done through our purchasing office. The
Academy will make every effort in contracting to scrupulously conform to SAM
and General Services requirements.
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Payments for CME projects were improperly directed by the Director of
Continuing Maritime Education to be made to the Foundation. From the
Foundation receipts, legitimate bills reflecting the costs of the projects were
paid at the request of the Director of CME. In September 1987 the Foundation
submitted via the Academy to the audit team, an accounting of the funds
diverted to the Foundation. At that time all funds improperly directed to the
Foundation had been paid to the Academy.

It is clear that the President must provide greater monitoring and control
of execution of the CME contracting and funds management. The Director of CME
has been explicitly instructed that his organization may not enter into
contracts directly. All contracts required will be executed by the Academy's
administration department in accordance with SAM requirements.

The audit suggests that because of the diversion of funds, the State may
have lost as much as $1300 in interest. The Academy, though not agreeing with
the procedure, does not agree that the State lost any money. The Foundation
paid through its efforts to manage the funds and pay the bills. Had the
receipts been deposited in the CME Revenue Fund and bills paid from it, a cost
larger than the interest would have been incurred by the State for managing
transactions in that account. The Foundation charged no such fee. The result
was a small net savings to the State. The Foundation did not seek the
arrangement and merely performed in good faith what it thought was a useful
administrative service.

-4 -
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Attachment A

Excerpt from Board of Governors Minutes, 21 March 1986, Page 673

Item 14 - President's Report

The President reported an opportunity to augment training with a cruise
to Vancouver and Expo '86 where the ship would also carry a trade fair
and requested the Board to authorize such a trip. The Board unanimously
voted to conduct such a trip.
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Attachment B

Q

US.Department 400 Seventh Street. SW.
of Transportation Washington, D C. 20580
Maritime

Administration

April 30, 1986

Mr. Richard Atkinson

Senior Customs Representatives
Office of Foreign Missions
Department of State
Washington, DC 20520

Dear Mr. Atkinson:

California Maritime Academy is scheduling a supplemental
training cruise to Vancouver, Canada from July 29 to August 4,
1986.

Please arrange for diplomatic clearance for the T.S. GOLDEN
BEAR during this period of time. We appreciate your
cooperation.

Sincerely,

—

EDWIN M. HACKETT

Academies Program Officer

Office of Maritime Labor
& Training

cc: Rear Admiral J.J. Ekelund, USN (Ret.)
President, California Maritime Academy
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Attachment C
e
UNITED STATES DEPARTNIENT OF COMMERCE

International Trade Administration
Foreign Commercial Service

1075 West Georgia Street
Vancouver, B.C. V6E 4E9

August 21, 1986

Ms. Clare Berryhill

Director ’

California Department of Food
and Agriculture

1220 N Street, Room 409

Sacramento, California

95814

Dear Ms. Berryhill:

This is a short note to congratulate you on the
excellent promotion of California food and wines on
the Golden Bear visit to Vancouver.

The participating local agents of California wines
were unanimous in their praise of the effectiveness of
wine tasting for the trade. One agent said there were
more of the right people there than any tasting he had
every participated in. Others had similar laudatory
comments on the success of the event and how well it
was set up. In addition to the wines, the food was a
real hit. I can't say enough about the efforts of
Ester Armstrong and Lori Johnston. Through their
sheer hard work and talents the foods and wines were
beautifully displayed and constantly maintained that
way throughout the entire time. You can be very proud
of their efforts and the successful promotion of
California products in Vancouver.

We look forward to your participation in Food Pacific
and will be pleased to assist in any way we can.

Sincerely,

‘Raymond E. Eveland
Consul - Trade

c.c. Ms., Ester Armstrong
Assistant Director
California Dept. of Food & Agriculture
1010 Hurley Way, Suite 200
Sacramento, California 95825

c.c. Ms. Lori Johnston
Executive Deputy Officer
California Dept. go- Food & Agricualtare
1220 M Street, Room 4<%
Sacramentn. California 95814



STATE OF CALIFORNIA : GEORGE DEUKMEJIAN, Governor

DEPARTMENT OF FOOD AND AGRICULTURE

1220 N Street, Room 409
Sacramento, CA 95814

Attachment D

Captain John M. Keever
California Maritime Academy
P.0. Box 1392

Vallejo, CA 94590

Dear Captain Keever:

On behalf of the Department of Food and Agriculture I want to thank
you and your crew for all the help you gave Ester and I in Vancouver.
Without your staff's assistance it would have been impossible for us
to put on the wine tastings and receptions. We all learned a lot from
the Expo trip that will help us better plan for the Pacific Rim tour.

Please extend a special ﬁhanks to Dave, the Bos'n, George, Mike and
Lou for their strong backs, patience, and helpful attitude. They made
the long days bearable and fun.

We also appreciate Marilyn's assistance in helping us plan for the trip,
the galley crew for preparing the food for the receptions, and all the
spousal help we received. Because of their help the Vancouver trip

was a success.

Sincerely,

I

Lori Johmston
Deputy Executive Officer

Agricultural Export Program
(916) 322-4339

cc: Admiral Eklund\/
Clare Berryhill
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Attachment E

Excerpt from Board of Governors Minutes, 17 September 1986, Page 681

Item 9 - President's Report

b. Vancouver Training Trip

Following the end of the academic year, the Training Ship made a short
training trip to Vancouver from 26 July-6 August with 105 Midshipmen.
Included in the trip was a travel opportunity for the Midshipmen's
parents and families and some CMA employees and their families who paid
cost. While in Vancouver, the ship was the location for a series of
wine festivals/tastings and receptions to support and further the export
of California products. The trip was an outstanding training opportunity
for the participating Midshipmen and provided the cultural exposure of
Canada and Expo 86.
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Attachment F

e

.2

s 800 113
» : -
STATE OF CALIFORNIA &h““'-%e ) eI [eN)
CALIFORNIA MARITIME ACADEMY N9 25824 GSSF
Cash Receipt Uncleared
RECEIVED FROM ._Lm. E.&M.T ' CME
on account of the items mdicated on margin, or for Revolving Fund
e e e Y
D Cash Check—NoOe D Money Order—

}\1«\6 CALIFORNIA MARITIME ACADEMY
Jty -The
COPY—NOT A VAUD RECEIPT ,
By G2

- TOTAL [ 803 D

85 94547 | — L
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PLOANINAW /AN, FAF N lai vl 8 T ATTOURINEY GENEZIRAL ‘- STATE AGENCY

. L} sta N
IATE OF CALJFORNIA Attacment G D DEPT. OF GEN. SER.
D. 2 (REV. 6/81) .

. - ) [0 controwLEr

‘HIS AGREEMENT, made and entered into this st day of July .19 87, -3
1 the State of California, by and between State of California, through its duly elected or appointed, O
ualified and acting O
ITLE OF OFFICER ACTING FOR STATE . - AGENCY . NUMBER
President California Maritime Academy CON80004

ereafter called the State, and .
California Maritime Academy. Foundatlon (V: 11380-00)

ereafter called the Contractor.

VITNESSETH: That the Contractor for and in consideration of the covenants, conditions, agreements, and stipulations of ‘the State
ereinafter expressed, does hereby agree to furnish to the State services and materials, as follows:

set forth service to be rendered by Contractor, amount to be paid Contractor, time for performance or completion, and attach plans and specifications, if any.)

RENEWAL OF ANNUAL COMPUTER SYSTEM RENTAL : -

The Contractor agrees to continue furnishing, and the State hereby agrees to continue
renting all electronic data processing machines in accord with the provisions .of General
Terms and Conditions and of Rider "A" - Special Provisions. Equipment furnished to the
State by the Contractor is as listed on Rider-"B", which is now operating and is 1nsta]led
in the Administration Building, California Maritime Academy.

The following Riders are hereby - 1ncorporated in,and are a part of this contract:
Rider "A" - Special Provisions

Rider "B" - Equipment List
Rider "D" - Acceptance Testing and Continuing Standards of Performance

This rental agreement will be effective July 1, 1987 and will terminate June 30, 1988. The
State shall pay the contractor each month Three Thousand Dollars and No Cents ($3,000.00),
in arrears, total annual payment not to exceed Thlrty -Six Thousand Dollars and No Cents
($36,000. OO)

Projected payback date is May 1989, at which time the State is scheduled to take tltle to

all equipment. /&

The provisions on the reverse side hereof constitute a part of this agreement. ‘
N WITNESS WHEREOF, this agreement has been executed by the parties hereto, upon the date first above w -itten.

STATE OF CALIFORNIA | CONTRACTOR
GENCY WAC c-:’ OTHER THAN AN INDIVIDUAL STATE WHETHER A CORPORATION
alifornia Maritime Academy [ €&l 7hrnia Maritime‘?cademv Foundation
¥ (AUTHORIZE 5|G~Ay|$) BY (A 1ZED SIGNATYRE) (//
/{é H. W. BROWN »M 2K . F7~—“GAIL M. COONEY
rle /l

Ilce President, Fiscal/Administrative Affairs Business Office Manager

ADDRESS

ONTINUED ON ___ SHEETS. EACH BEARING NAME OF CONTRACTOR P.0. Box 1392L Vallejo, CA 94590
AMOUNT ENCUMBERED PROGRAM/CATEGORY (CODE AND TITLE) FUND TITLE
Department of General Services $ 36.000.00 SUDDOY‘t' General
Use Only UNENCL:MBERED BALANCE (OPTIONAL USB
Computer Science- Rental
DEPARTMENT Of GENERAL SERV'CES §DJ. INCREASING ENCUMBRANCE || IMTEM P CHARTER STATUTE FISCAL YEAR
OFFICE OF PROCUREMENT '$ 6860-001-001-99 135 1987 | 1987/88
ADJ. DECREASING ENCUMBRANCE OQECT OF EXPENDITURE (CODE AND TITLE)

$ 329431 - 1400 - 10100
APPROVED I herghy certify upon my own personal knowledge that budgeted funds are :
avay for the pcnq(and pu[rw_o] the expenditure stated above. I Jo

SIGNATUYRE OF A UNTING OFFICER DATE
BY__ A Tj M JON WL SCOTT | AUG + 2 1987
/ /l(n'by certify that all conditions for exemption set forth in State'Adminislraﬁoe Manual Section 1209 haoe

////0/?7 been complied with and this document is exempt from revieu by the Department of Fincnce

S‘G‘AT\J OF O R SIGNING ON BEHALF OF THE AGENCY DATE
2&»—1/ J. J. EKELUND AUG 4 0 1007
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